FIVE YEARS' FRUITS
OF THE
PARISH COUNCILS ACT.

Published and Sold by
THE FABIAN SOCIETY.

Price One Penny.

London:
The Fabian Society, 3 Clement's Inn, Strand, W.C.
January, 1901.
Five Years' Fruits of the Parish Councils Act.

Since 1894 every rural parish containing more than 300 inhabitants has had a Parish Council to manage its local affairs. These Councils were formerly elected for one year. From now onward this will be changed. The Parish Council, once elected, will stay in office for three years, without the parish being troubled with further elections. This makes it all the more important that the parish should choose good men and women to sit on the Parish Council. There will be an election in March, 1901, and then no other until April, 1904. If there is not a good Parish Council in any parish, the electors should take care to get a good one at the next election.*

What use is the Parish Council?

Many people are saying that the Parish Councils are of no use to the parishes, and that they have done nothing for the poor man. It is quite true that in most places the Parish Councils have not done much. In many villages they have done nothing at all. But where they have done nothing at all, it is because the wrong men have been elected. In most parishes the farmers and shopkeepers and innkeepers do not like the Parish Council, because they are afraid of having to pay higher rates, and very few of the squires and parsons believe in it or care much about it.†

These people go about saying that Parish Councils are of no use at all to anybody. Unfortunately, many laborers and other simple folk believe this. They hoped much from the Parish Councils, and they have got little or nothing. But it is not true that Parish Councils are of no use to the poor man. They have taken the power over the village affairs out of the hands of individuals or cliques, and taught the laborer that his vote is as good as that of

* For a plain statement of the law about Parish Councils, exact particulars as to who can vote and who can be elected, and full explanation about the method of election, see Fabian Tract No. 62, "Parish and District Councils: what they are and what they can do." It will be posted to any person sending 1½d. in stamps to the Secretary, Fabian Society, 3 Clement's Inn, London.

† For this reason no report has been published by the Government, as was its plain duty, showing what the Parish Councils have done. The facts in this tract have been gathered from more than a hundred separate reports obtained by the Fabian Society from parishes all over the country; from the printed reports and proceedings of County and Rural District Councils; from the annual reports of the Local Government Board; and from the House of Commons Returns, No. 17 of 1898, on "Land (Compulsory Purchase and Hiring);" and No. 299 of 1899, on "Fire Brigades."
anyone else's. In hundreds of different parishes up and down England and Wales the Parish Councils have done a great deal of good. They have got allotments and small holdings of grazing or gardening land for men who wanted them; they have protected the poor man's common or village green, and often obtained additional land for common pasture; they have appointed their own men to manage the village charities, and have sometimes restored to the poor charity money which had formerly been misapplied; they have seen to it that the charities should go to those who really needed them, whatever political or religious opinions they might hold; they have got better drinking water for the cottages, digging new wells and putting up new pumps where required; they have cleaned out filthy ponds and ditches, and done away with nuisances which were injuring the health of the village; they have maintained and repaired the footpaths, and prevented the stopping up of public rights of way; they have looked after the rates and taxes and sometimes saved the parish large sums of money by preventing dishonest officers stealing the cash or dealing unfairly with the assessments; they have put up lamps to light the village streets at night; they have procured fire engines to put out fires; they have provided open bathing places and sometimes regular baths for men and women; they have laid out playgrounds for the children, cricket fields for the young men, and pleasant walks among trees, with seats for the weary; they have erected parish halls where needed; and they have sometimes set going libraries and reading rooms for the free use of the parish. All this, and much more, has been done by the Parish Councils in those parishes in which the right men have been elected. This tract is written to tell of their success. What these parishes have done, others can do.

ALLOTMENTS.

More than a thousand Parish Councils have got land for allotments, amounting altogether to over 15,000 acres. Nearly everywhere, when a Parish Council has really tried to get land for allotments, it has been able to do so. In Norfolk more than 100 parishes, in Gloucestershire more than 70, have now their own allotments under the Parish Council. What no one laborer could do for himself, the Parish Council was able to do for them all. Usually the Parish Council succeeded in getting enough land by agreement with the landlord, which is much the best way for all parties. Sometimes they had to threaten to put the law in force and compel an owner to let or sell the land. When the landlords remained obstinate, and would not consent to part with any of their land, the law has been put into action, and they have been forced to give it up. Here are the names of some parishes where the Parish Council has obtained an order from the Local Government Board to compel the landlords to let the laborers have land:

- Ashfordby (Leicestershire), pop. 717.
- Beaghall or Beal (Yorkshire), pop. 398.

Nearly all the land has been hired by the Parish Council at as low a rent as it could arrange, and let out to the allotment holders at a rent per pole or per rood just covering all the expenses.

Six parishes got allotment land purchased for them, the County Council buying in two cases, and the Rural District Council in four cases, the Parish Council having the management. Thus Wigtoft in Lincolnshire now has six acres, bought for it by the Holland County Council for £900, and paid for by a loan spread over 50 years. The Parish Council lets the land to 12 tenants, whose rent pays the interest and sinking fund. At the end of 50 years, the Parish Council will own the land free of any charge. The Parish Council of Keresley got the Warwickshire County Council to purchase 11½ acres in the parish, which the Parish Council now hires from the County Council, and sublets to 18 tenants.

Most of this land is used for allotment gardens, varying in size from a few square yards up to an acre. But in many cases pasture land is let in larger holdings. Thus the Parish Council of Longcott in Berkshire has hired 10 acres of meadow which it sublets to four tenants; Shrivenham, in Berkshire, 20 acres of pasture to three tenants; Weedon, in Buckinghamshire, 16 acres of pasture to one tenant; Colyton, in Devonshire, 19 acres to three tenants; Witton Gilbert, in Durham, 32 acres to six tenants; Rothbury, in Northumberland, 46 acres to five tenants; and the Trefdraeth Parish Council in Anglesey (pop. 804) has hired no less than 152 acres, which it has let to seven tenants, one having about 100 acres.

Although only one-tenth of the total number of parishes has yet put the law as to allotments in force, more than 25,000 working men now hold land directly from their Parish Councils.

In many other parishes the Parish Council has been able, without itself hiring or purchasing land, to induce the landlords to set aside land for allotments. Thus in the parishes of Axmouth, Clawton and Pyworthy, in Devonshire, the Parish Councils received applications for allotments, and successfully appealed to the landowners on behalf of the applicants. This happened also at Dunston, in Lincolnshire, and many other places. The Slimbridge Parish Council (Gloucestershire) got two acres of charity land divided into allotments. Twyford Parish Council (Hampshire) owns two acres of land under an Enclosure Award, and lets this out in allotments. The Cold Ash Parish Council (Berkshire) which similarly owns eight acres let in allotments.
reduced the rents to the lowest possible point, and improved the plots by providing new gates and fences. At Nayland-with-Wissington (Suffolk) the Parish Council got the rents of the existing allotments reduced. The Parish Council of St. Brides Major (Glamorganshire, pop. 621) borrowed £400, on a 15 years term, in order to provide fences for its allotments on Ogmore Down.

When a Parish Council has obtained land for allotments, it is very useful to have definite regulations to prevent any abuse. Several hundreds of Parish Councils have made such "Regulations for Allotments," and got them confirmed by the Local Government Board in London, so that each allotment holder may be protected from annoyance and the parish property from misuse.

**Common Pasture and Grazing Grounds.**

A few Parish Councils have provided common pasture and grazing grounds for their villages. Thus at Soulbury (Bucks.), the Parish Council rents 21 acres for this purpose; at Hasland (Derbyshire) seven acres. In Yorkshire, the Ashton-cum-Aughton Parish Council rents eight acres; that of Kilham 21 acres; and that of Beeford 48 acres—all for the poor man's cow, the cottager's goose, and the horse or donkey of the small dealer or craftsman.

**Recreation Grounds.**

Many Parish Councils have secured useful recreation grounds for their villages. Sometimes these have been given free. At Titchfield (Hampshire) five acres have been given; at Nacton (Suffolk) one acre; at Westbury (Wilt.) half an acre. The Parish Council of Aldenham (Herts., pop. 2,085) had given it half an acre with gymnastic appliances; and is now receiving another four acres for a public park. At Mayfield (Staffs.) the inhabitants themselves presented the Parish Council with an acre for this purpose. In other villages, land has been let to the Parish Council at a nominal rent, such as a shilling a year. At Roade (Northamptonshire, pop. 674) the Parish Council has thus secured a recreation ground of half an acre; at Calverton (Notts.) one of two acres; at Bramcote, in the same county, one of four acres; at Harrow Weald (Middlesex) as much as five-and-three-quarter acres; whilst on the other hand the Parish Council of St. Margaret at Cliffe (Kent), having been given a zigzag footpath up the cliff, has got the use for sixpence a year of sufficient land to put seats on. Less fortunate villages have had to rent land for recreation grounds. The Parish Council of Aston Tirrold (Berks., pop. 300) hires two acres, whilst that of Twyford (pop. 1,262) in the same county, hires 10 acres; Wymondham (Norfolk) is content with half an acre, whilst Naseby (Northamptonshire) hires 11 acres. Many Parish Councils (for instance, that of Great and Little Hampton, Worcestershire) have improved the village greens, so as to make them fit places for the children to play on. The Parish Council of Barrowden (Rutland) has hired seven acres specifically for a cricket ground; that of Norton-under-Hamdon (Somerset) one-and-a-half acres for a children's playground, whilst Barford Parish Council (Warwickshire) goes in for five-and-a-half acres for this purpose. Sometimes much larger areas are hired by Parish Councils for the combined purpose of recreation grounds and common grazing. Thus Aberffraw, in Anglesey, rents by its Parish Council 16 acres; Whittington, in Worcestershire, 20 acres; Chigwell, in Essex, 49 acres; Pelsall, in Staffordshire, as much as 55 acres.

A few Parish Councils have purchased land for recreation grounds; thus Chulmleigh (Devon) has bought a little ornamental garden of four poles extent; Horndon-on-the-Hill (Essex) has bought one-and-a-half acres; Forest Row (East Sussex) four acres; Horsepath (Oxfordshire) four acres; Wattisheld (West Suffolk) four-and-three-quarter acres; and Ropley (Hants.) as much as seven acres, part of which it devotes to allotments. In such cases the Parish Council borrows the money to pay for the land. Thus Burwell (Cambridgeshire) borrowed £346 to buy some recreation ground; Willingham, in the same county, £500; Cuddesdon, in Oxfordshire, £160; and Caterham, in Surrey, as much as £2,700—all for recreation grounds.

**Public Wharf.**

At Acle (Norfolk) a small piece of land by the river, forming a sort of wharf, is rented from the lord of the manor, in order that the inhabitants may have the free right to load and unload boats, independently of the riparian owners and occupiers.

**Drying Ground.**

At Cummersdale (Cumberland, pop. 641) the inhabitants felt the want of a drying ground, and the Parish Council now rents half an acre of land for common use.

**Burial Grounds.**

When the parish churchyard gets full, or is too far off from part of the parish, it is a great convenience for the parish to be able to get a new burial ground. This has been done by over 400 Parish Councils. Occasionally the Parish Council has been able to get the land for nothing, on proving that it was really needed, as at Steeton-with-Eastburn (West Riding of Yorkshire) where the Chairman of the Parish Council presented the Council with 1½ acres. Occasionally the land has to be hired on a long lease; the Parish Council of Brisley (Norfolk) has rented half an acre. But nearly always the Parish Council has bought the freehold, obtaining a loan for the purpose. Sometimes, as at Isleham (Cambridge) all that is obtained is an additional half-acre beside the churchyard. Sometimes much more is bought; the Parish Council of Dolwyddelan (pop. 1,010), in Carnarvonshire, has purchased nearly eight acres. In a few cases where the landowner could not be induced to sell the necessary land adjoining or near the churchyard, the Parish Council prevailed on the Rural District Council to take it compulsorily.
These purchases are made by means of loans. Thus the Aylsham Parish Council (Norfolk) borrowed £320 in 1898 to buy some land for a new burial place; and the Normanton Parish Council (Derbyshire, pop. 1,186) as much as £3,500.

PARISH LAND RECOVERED.

Many small pieces of land belonging to the public at large have been “lost” in years gone by, for want of anyone to stand up for the public rights. Parish Councils have been examining the Enclosure Awards, Tithe Awards and List of Charities for their parishes, and some of this “lost” land has been recovered. For instance—the Askern Parish Council (West Riding of Yorkshire) is now in possession of half an acre of land, including a useful quarry, which had been duly awarded to the parish years ago, but had been quietly usurped by the neighboring landowner. When the village got a Parish Council to assert the public rights, the present landowner consented to restore the half-acre in question. At Shirland (Derbyshire) the Parish Council compelled a landowner to disgorge a small strip of land by the high road which he had annexed. The Parish Council now receives a small annual rent for its use. The Hurley Parish Council (Berkshire) found that the lord of the manor had for years been allowing people, now and then, to enclose bits of the common land, on condition that they paid him a small quit rent. The Council complained, and this filching of the public rights has been stopped. At St. Budeaux (Devonshire) the Government had appropriated the village green under some plea or another, but the Parish Council has now obtained possession of this half-acre, hiring it from the War Office at the nominal rent of a shilling a year. At Pilton (Somerset) the Parish Council got the lord of the manor to transfer to them free of cost the site of the old parish pound, to be planted with tree and shrubs. At Long Preston (West Riding of Yorkshire) the lord of the manor has transferred the village greens to the Parish Council free of charge; and at Thundersley (Essex) the same is being done with regard to a large common. Many other village greens, the legal ownership of which has become vested in the lord of the manor, have been let to Parish Councils at a shilling, or some other nominal rent, so that the people might have a legal right to the use and management of them. By the activity of Parish Councils many commons and greens have been protected against encroachments and appropriation. Thus at Cellan, in Cardiganshire, the Parish Council had the common accurately measured, and the public ownership put on record. The Parish Council of Send and Ripley (Surrey, pop. 2,049) has made byelaws regulating the use of its village green and other open spaces. This should be done by every Parish Council which can prove its title to the green.

The green strips by the side of the high roads are public property, and ought never to be enclosed. In the past many thousands of these pieces of land have been quietly stolen by the neighboring landowners. Now it is the duty of the Parish Council to watch them, and the duty of the County Council to protect them. Many encroachments have been thus stopped. The Parish Council of St. Bride’s Major (Glamorgan, pop. 621) successfully fought the Earl of Dunraven, who had tried to make a big encroachment.

PARISH HALLS OR ROOMS.

Many Parish Councils have acquired or built convenient public rooms for the village to meet in, and offices for the parish business. At Charing (Kent) the Parish Council bought 10 poles of freehold land and built a hall, getting a loan of £286 for the purpose. The Boarhunt Parish Council (Hampshire) did the same thing. Compton (Hants.) bought three-quarters of an acre and built a hall; Hessle, in the East Riding of Yorkshire, half an acre for the same purpose. The Parish Council of Hawkehurst (Kent) borrowed £625 to build its parish hall, which includes offices for the parish business. But a suitable room can be put up for much less. The Parish Council of Trefriw (Carnarvonshire) only had to borrow £114 to pay for its parish room; and the Parish Council of Underskiddaw (Cumberland) only required £150 for the same purpose. The Parish Council of Bovey Tracey (Devonshire) borrowed £400 to provide themselves with a “town hall,” but South Stoke (Oxfordshire) has been contented with spending £50, and Gunthorpe (Nottinghamshire) with spending £120 on their “parish rooms.” At Cheddar (Somerset) the Parish Council bought a house with a quarter of an acre of garden, and converted it into a public hall and parish offices; this cost about £300, which the parish borrowed for a term of 30 years, during which it will pay interest and sinking fund, and after that will have the house and building free of charge.

COTTAGES.

Hitherto the Housing Acts, under which good cottages can be built wherever needed, have been of very little use to rural parishes, partly because Parish Councils have had no power to act themselves, and partly because Rural District Councils have been hampered by absurd legal conditions which made the building of cottages almost impossible.

By an Act passed in 1900 these difficulties have been considerably reduced. Much of the old cumbrous procedure is abolished. Rural District Councils have now only to satisfy the County Council that cottages are wanted in any parish, and that they can be built to pay expenses, and the County Council can at once give the necessary permission. In addition to this, a new and most valuable power is given to Parish Councils. If the Rural District Council refuse to attend to resolutions adopted by the Parish Council requesting them to build cottages, the Parish Council can complain to the County Council, and the County Council can then order the cottages to be built. Here, then, is an opportunity for vigorous action. For the first time the right of the Parish Council to take steps for obtaining proper houses for the villagers is recognized by the law. In the past, Rural District Councils might fairly say that Parish Councils had
nothing to do with building new cottages. Now it has been made
their business, and they should see that it is attended to. It has for
long been the duty of the Rural District Council to see that there
are enough cottages in every parish, and that every cottage is kept
in proper repair, not overcrowded, and fit for human beings to live
in. Some Parish Councils have got cottages repaired by complaining
to the District or County Council. The Parish Council of
Suffield (Norfolk, pop. 236) found that the parish possessed some
cottages, which were in very bad repair. It borrowed £100, on a
d 2d. per rod. But this was done in
1895, it was not until 1897 that she
After many complaints and repeated inquiries, the Thingoe Rural
District Council bought four acres of land for £160, and built eight
cottages for £1,370, borrowing the money from the Public Works
Loan Commissioners at 3½ per cent., repayable by instalments
extending over 30 years. The cottages are let at £5 10s. each a
year, and the surplus land at 2d. per rod. But this was done in
1890-1893, before Parish Councils existed. The only case in which
a Parish Council has built cottages is that of Penshurst (Kent, pop.
1,600), and this was due to the energy of a lady councillor (Miss
Jane Escombe). Beginning in 1895, it was not until 1897 that she
bought by the Rural District Council at 3½ per cent., for 40 years,
purchased from the clergyman for £130, and six cottages (six rooms)
were then begun, at a cost of £1,530, the total outlay (£1,800) being
borrowed by the Rural District Council at 3½ per cent. for 40 years,
involving a charge of £74 a year for interest and sinking fund,
which the rents at 5s. a week just cover.*

In Ireland much more has been done. There are now over
15,000 cottages in Irish rural districts, built, owned and let out to
tenants by the local public authority.

Charities.

In many parishes the Parish Council has reformed the charities,
by appointing some of its own members as trustees. Sometimes, as
at Burley-in-Wharfedale (Yorkshire), the rents of parish land or
cottages have simply been taken by the overseers in aid of the poor
rate (and so to help to pay the rates of the squire, the parson, the
innkeeper, etc.). This was promptly stopped, and the money given
to the deserving poor. Then the poor were no longer compelled to
come up publicly to claim their doles, but arrangements were made
for paying them quietly in their own cottages.

Sanitation.

It is, properly speaking, the business of the Rural District Council
and the County Council to see that every parish is in a proper

* See Fabian Tract No. 63, "Parish Council Cottages and how to get them."
Thus the Parish Council of Great Stanbridge (Essex) found that the village badly needed better water. It obtained as a free gift from the landowner a few square yards of land, on which a well was sunk, a pump and horse-trough erected, and the whole covered by a neat roof. Kilmington (Wilt.) wanted a new parish pump; one pole of freehold land was given free of charge by the owner to the Parish Council, and a pump erected for the use of the public for ever. At St. Tudy (Cornwall) the Parish Council had the drinking water analyzed, and, finding it satisfactory, got the supply improved and increased. At Gaydon (Warwickshire) the Parish Council was given a good supply of water, so that it should be for ever maintained in good order for the village. The Parish Council of Humshaugh (Northumberland) has bought the freehold of a small piece of land, one pole in area, so as to secure for ever a public watering place. The Churchstanton Parish Council (Devon) successfully asserted the public right to certain springs of pure water, and laid down pipes to supply the neighbours. At Thundersley (Essex) there is a good water supply, but the owners of some cottages neglected to lay it on to them. The Parish Council took the matter up and compelled them to do their duty. But the best work of that Parish Council was its standing up to a village tyrant. A local landowner filled up and destroyed an ancient spring, which the public had used from time immemorial, and put up barbed wire and tar to prevent the cottagers approaching it, whilst the county policeman was sent round to frighten them. The Parish Council raised a subscription to fight the case, and by an action in the Court of Queen's Bench (Reynolds v. Lincoln) in May, 1899, compelled the landowner to clear out and re-brick the spring, and remove all obstructions to the public use of it. The Ashton Parish Council (Northamptonshire) had an instructive experience. When the churchyard was enlarged, it became necessary to divert an old line of pipes supplying water from a spring to the village well, and the clergymen took upon themselves to run the supply to his own house, allowing the village only the overflow from his tank. The Parish Council (which consists of a grocer, a gardener, a platelayer, a signalman and a carpenter) then took steps to protect the village, and commenced to put down pipes connecting directly the well with the spring. Thereupon the steward to the local landowner (Duke of Grafton) came down on the Parish Council, and declared that the pipes, and even the water, belonged to the Duke, because it ran under the public high road. At first he tried to stop the work; then he claimed the ownership of the new pipes which the Parish Council was paying for; at last he offered that the Duke should pay the expense, but said he must own the pipes. The Parish Council stood firm, and said that the parish was determined to possess its own water supply, which they and their forefathers had enjoyed from time immemorial. Finally, the Duke, by his steward, made an awful threat. He would appeal to the Government Auditor, and get the amount “surcharged,” upon which, as his agent explained, those Parish Councillors who had ordered the expen-


diture would have to pay it out of their own pockets. He actually tried to carry out this threat, but his agent fortunately mistook the day, and appeared twenty-four hours too late. So the Parish Council triumphed, and now enjoys its own good and abundant water supply. This happy result was largely due to the wisdom of the Parish Council in engaging a good man as clerk. Instead of getting their work done for nothing, and having it done badly, the Council pays a salary of £6 a year, and shares with two other Parish Councils the services of a competent officer.

**Public Lamps and Lighting.**

Several hundred parishes have adopted the Lighting and Watching Acts, which enable the Parish Council to put up lamps and light the village streets and roads at night. The Parish Council of Elmswell (West Suffolk) is one of those that have done this; that of Menstone (West Riding of Yorkshire) is another (it borrowed £200 to pay for the lamps and did the thing handsomely). The Parish Council of Treeton (also in the West Riding of Yorkshire) spent £140 on public lighting at starting. But usually much smaller sums suffice. The annual expense of lighting is paid for by a separate Lighting Rate on the parish, which is usually only a halfpenny or a penny in the pound. The Lighting and Watching Act involves a separate rate and a somewhat cumbrous procedure. Other parishes have asked the Local Government Board to confer on the Rural District Council the power to light the village; and then got the Rural District Council to delegate this power to a Parochial Committee.

**Assessments and the Parish Finances.**

Some Parish Councils, like that of Bradfield St. George (Suffolk, pop. 388) have formally adopted section 3 of the Poor Rate Assessment and Collection Act, 1869, and so made the owners of all cottage property themselves pay the rates. This is found a boon to the poor.

Before the Parish Council came into existence there was very often no one to see that the Churchwardens and Overseers did their work fairly, as to the assessment of property and the collection of rates. When the parish of Penalt (Monmouthshire) got a Parish Council it was discovered that some houses had for years been left out of the assessment, so that the owners of them escaped their share of the rates; and that a large balance was owing to the parish by a former Overseer. The Parish Council insisted on this being made right, and so saved the parish in one year more than the whole amount of its expenditure since that time. At Barford (Warwickshire, pop. 719) the Parish Council found that the three great houses of the parish were scandalously under-assessed, and got them put up by £200. This at once reduced the rates by a penny in the pound.

At Blackshaw (West Riding of Yorkshire) the Parish Council thought that the parish was unfairly treated by the County Council, in being assessed at too high a sum towards the County Rate. The
Parish Council twice appealed against the County Rate Basis, and was successful in getting it considerably reduced, saving the ratepayers of the parish a large sum annually. Similarly, when the neighboring town of Todmorden became a municipal borough, it strove to put upon Blackshaw parish the maintenance of some roads which were in a bad state of repair. The Parish Council stood up for its rights and got compensation for the parish.

MARKETS.

Some Parish Councils manage little markets or annual fairs, and take the profits in aid of the rates. At Bawtry, in Yorkshire, the Parish Council formally rents the market place from the lord of the manor, and enjoys the market tolls. At Bardney, in Lincolnshire, the Parish Council maintains the village green and, with the consent of the lord of the manor, lets it out on the occasion of the annual fair, and uses the rents for parish purposes.

ROADS, PATHS AND BRIDGES.

Many parishes have, through their Parish Councils, got their footpaths and little bridges put in order, and sometimes new ones made. Thus, quite small parishes, such as Welford (Berkshire, pop. 855) have gravelled their footpaths and repaired their footbridges, so that the children can go to school without getting their feet wet. The Parish Council of Snape (Suffolk, pop. 546) finds it convenient to have its own gravel-pit for footpath repair, and so rents a quarter of an acre of land and digs its own gravel instead of buying it. The Parish Council of Orrell-with-Ford (Lancs., pop. 1,066) is properly proud of having "name-plated all the roads, finger-posted all the footpaths, and twice cleaned out the boundary brook." The Parish Council of St. Tudy (Cornwall, pop. 520) agitated for and got built a new footbridge over the river. The Parish Council of Weston Turville (Bucks.) took in hand a dangerous corner of a road, and bought a strip of garden to widen the highway. At Timperley, in Cheshire, there was a footpath leading to a level crossing over the railway. This was a cause of serious danger and occasional accidents. As it proved to be impossible to get a railway bridge, the Parish Council made an exchange of land and diverted the footpath so as to obviate the dangerous crossing. At Newstead (Nottinghamshire) a new road was needed, and the Parish Council has rented altogether 5 acres of land in order to lay this out. Lower Dylais (Glamorganshire) wanted a new footpath and made it, formally hiring the narrow strip of land on a long lease. Whitwell (Derbyshire) was in the same case, but was able to hire the strip at a nominal sum. The Parish Council of Blaenpenal (Cardiganshire) made a new cartway, but was able to buy the freehold of the little bit of land required. At Ockbrook (Derbyshire) the Parish Council has devoted most of its attention to improving the streets and highways. It has adopted the Lighting Act and erected lamps (rate 3d. in £ for this), given names to the roads and streets and put up nameboards, made up and repaired the footways and approaches, and removed nuisances.

RAILWAY, POST AND TELEGRAPH FACILITIES.

Nearly 300 Parish Councils have taken steps to protect their villages against serious fires. Sometimes, as in the cases of half-a-dozen parishes near Bedford, the Councils subscribe towards an efficient fire brigade maintained by a neighboring town. More usually, the Parish Council organizes a volunteer fire brigade of its own, and provides appliances. At Tempsford (Bed., pop. 492) the Parish Council pays the engineer's salary; at Burnham (Bucks., pop. 2,633) the men are paid for drills; elsewhere, as at Malpas (Cheshire, pop. 1,164) the men are paid for attendance at fires. At Flimby (Cumberland, pop. 2,415) the members of the Parish Council themselves act as a fire brigade.

LIBRARIES AND READING ROOMS.

In many villages a reading room is now maintained by the generosity of the clergyman or the squire. Often these are just what the village desires, but sometimes they are not. In one parish reading room in Surrey no Liberal or Radical newspaper is allowed. In one Sussex parish the clergyman gave his copy of the Times, but refused to let the Daily News be presented, on the ground that it was a "party organ!" But in a few parishes, the Parish Council now maintains a free public library and reading room, where the inhabitants can read just what books and newspapers they please, without being beholden to anyone. At Corwen (Merionethsh, pop. 2,680) the library was opened in 1896; it has a newsroom open 78 hours a week, and 250 books; it pays its librarian £9 a year; costs altogether £80 a year, and is managed by a committee of six Parish Councillors and six others, whom the Parish Council co-opts. Halkyn (Flint., pop. 1,033) got a better train service from the railway company; and St. Bride's Major (Glamorgan, pop. 621) made the company put up bridges and stiles.

FIRE PROTECTION.

Many Parish Councils have succeeded in getting better service from the Post Office. Thus, the Parish Council of Broadhempston (Devon., pop. 525) got a second, or evening, postal delivery; that of Hadley (Salop.) got several additional pillar boxes, and an afternoon postal delivery; that of Churchstanton (Somerset, pop. 672) obtained a money order office; that of East Claydon (Bucks., pop. 343) has given a guarantee against loss and so secured a telegraph office. Newick (Sussex, pop. 1,033) got a better train service from the railway company; and St. Bride's Major (Glamorgan, pop. 621) made the company put up bridges and stiles.

In many parishes a reading room is now maintained by the generosity of the clergyman or the squire. Often these are just what the village desires, but sometimes they are not. In one parish reading room in Surrey no Liberal or Radical newspaper is allowed. In one Sussex parish the clergyman gave his copy of the Times, but refused to let the Daily News be presented, on the ground that it was a "party organ!" But in a few parishes, the Parish Council now maintains a free public library and reading room, where the inhabitants can read just what books and newspapers they please, without being beholden to anyone. At Corwen (Merionethsh, pop. 2,680) the library was opened in 1896; it has a newsroom open 78 hours a week, and 250 books; it pays its librarian £9 a year; costs altogether £80 a year, and is managed by a committee of six Parish Councillors and six others, whom the Parish Council co-opts. Halkyn (Flint., pop. 1,033) opened its library in 1898, already has 700 books and a newsroom open 72 hours a week; pays its librarian £25 a year, and co-opts four persons to serve with five Parish Councillors as its library committee, which has an income of £63. Sometimes, as at Colwall (Hereford., pop. 1,006) the Parish Council gets a library building provided by private endowment. What can be done by a tiny village is shown at East and Botolph Claydon (Bucks., pop. 343) where a library was opened by the Parish Council in 1897, which now contains 600 books. The squire has built and placed at the disposal of the Council, at a
Bathing Places.

About a dozen parishes have adopted the Baths and Washhouses Acts, and now provide swimming baths. Sometimes, as at Betchworth (Surrey; pop. 1,808), the Parish Council has merely put up sheds, screens and platforms, so as to enable the river to be used in comfort, and made regulations, confirmed by the Local Government Board, as to the times for women and men respectively. At Betchworth, the Parish Council built a bathing tank 6ft. deep, with corrugated iron fences; costing £90; supplied with water from the brook; and looked after by an old man at 7/6 a week. A penny is charged for admission, or two shillings for a season ticket. The nearest cottager and his wife act as caretakers for 30s. a year, of which only 10s. comes from the rates. In all these cases the Parish Council levies the full library rate of one penny in the pound, and ekes this out with such receipts as sales of old newspapers, fines and subscriptions.*

*

For further information see Greenwood's British Library Year Book (Scott, Greenwood and Co., 19 Ludgate Hill, London). Price 3s. net post free.

next, enclosed the next, and so on. The annual cost of maintenance need only be trifling.

No Parish Council seems yet to have provided hot-water baths for individual use, though these would be a great boon to every mining village. Nor has any Parish Council had the enterprise to provide a laundry for public use, in spite of the great success in London and elsewhere of this convenience to small households.

Some Typical Parishes.

The following account of the work of the Parish Council in four separate parishes in different parts of England, shows what has actually been done.

KINGSTEIGNTON (DEVONSHIRE).

Population in 1891, 1,808. Area, 3,975 acres. Number of parochial electors, 370. Rateable value, £11,300.

This parish has throughout taken considerable interest in its Parish Council elections; there has been a contest and a poll every year, at which between 200 and 300 votes are cast. The Council has had from the first a Liberal majority, about evenly divided between Church and Dissent; but the elections have turned more on "village politics" and personal preferences, than on Imperial politics or religion. The Council (13) now consists of one clergyman, four farmers, two schoolmasters, two builders, one mine-owner, one mine-manager and one shopkeeper. There have been two wage-earners on, but they have left the Council. The Council has appointed trustees of the charities, and set on foot enquiries about them which have done good; it has regularized the assessments; it has preserved one footpath from a threatened encroachment; it obtained the site-map from the vicar and transferred it to its own custody; it hired two fields, comprising five-and-a-quarter acres, and let them out in 33 allotments; it moved the District Council to provide a new water supply for the parish at a cost of £5,200, which (though hotly opposed) is now appreciated and used by nearly half the parish; it has organized a parish fire brigade, providing £50 worth of fire-hose and other appliances; it has provided a stretcher for conveying patients to the local hospital; it has taken over and greatly improved the lamps and lighting of the village streets; it has obtained from the District Council its own appointment as a parochial committee for sanitary purposes, and has got nuisances stopped; it has cleaned out the village leet (or water course) which was in a dangerous state; it has repeatedly moved the District Council to provide hot-water baths for individual use, though these would be a great boon to every mining village. Nor has any Parish Council had the enterprise to provide a laundry for public use, in spite of the great success in London and elsewhere of this convenience to small households.

AYLESFORD (KENT).

Population in 1891, 2,947. Area, 4,057 acres. Number of parochial electors, about 200 and 300 votes are cast. The Council has had from the first a Liberal majority, about evenly divided between Church and Dissent; but the elections have turned more on "village politics" and personal preferences, than on Imperial politics or religion. The Council (13) now consists of one clergyman, four farmers, two schoolmasters, two builders, one mine-owner, one mine-manager and one shopkeeper. There have been two wage-earners on, but they have left the Council. The Council has appointed trustees of the charities, and set on foot enquiries about them which have done good; it has regularized the assessments; it has preserved one footpath from a threatened encroachment; it obtained the site-map from the vicar and transferred it to its own custody; it hired two fields, comprising five-and-a-quarter acres, and let them out in 33 allotments; it moved the District Council to provide a new water supply for the parish at a cost of £5,200, which (though hotly opposed) is now appreciated and used by nearly half the parish; it has organized a parish fire brigade, providing £50 worth of fire-hose and other appliances; it has provided a stretcher for conveying patients to the local hospital; it has taken over and greatly improved the lamps and lighting of the village streets; it has obtained from the District Council its own appointment as a parochial committee for sanitary purposes, and has got nuisances stopped; it has cleaned out the village leet (or water course) which was in a dangerous state; it has repeatedly moved the District Council to provide hot-water baths for individual use, though these would be a great boon to every mining village. Nor has any Parish Council had the enterprise to provide a laundry for public use, in spite of the great success in London and elsewhere of this convenience to small households.

In this parish (which includes two villages, one old and proprietary, the other modern and manufacturing) there has never been any active
HORSFORD (NORFOLK), St. Faith's Union.

Rateable value, £3,402.

This is a good sample of a purely rural parish, where the Parish Council, though not brilliantly successful, has been of real advantage. The first election (1894) excited great interest, and there was a fierce contest and a poll. An active Radical majority was elected, which got some things done, but found more difficulties than it expected. The next three elections were decided by show of hands, and Conservative majorities were elected. Last year, in the same way, eight Liberals and one Conservative were elected, and these have gone steadily to work in a quieter way than the first Council. The councillors now include four tenant farmers, three farm laborers, one brickfield laborer and one agent (a townsman). The Council, since 1894, has secured a useful footpath against possible diversion; hired eight acres of land for allotments; got the County Council to hold a public enquiry into the overcrowded state of the village and need for more cottages—the inquiry attracted so much attention that the worst evils got remedied—obtained a letter-box where needed from the Post Office, and got a savings bank branch opened in the parish.

by guaranteeing the cost; stirred up the District Council about a wet and dirty lane which had never been repaired within living memory—this caused the landowners to remedy their neglect. Perhaps the most striking result has been the care of the parish land. These 208 acres of heath had been neglected for years, and the neighboring landowners and occupiers were quietly establishing a right of way across it. The Parish Council elected trustees to manage this charity, and these fenced in its land from the road, enclosed and drained eight acres, which are now let for grazing; and after a hot discussion with the squire, maintained its fence against his claim to a right of way. The Parish Council now regularly lets the shooting on the watering pits, gravel pits and other odds and ends of land belonging to the parish under an Inclosure Award of 1810, and gets a few pounds a year for this privilege. But the real value of the Parish Council here is much more its intangible results on the village life and character. All classes are brought together to discuss their common business, and the laborers have been taught to look the squire and the parson in the face, and to realize that the best men of their own class make as good and trustworthy councillors as landlords and farmers. "Everyone," it is now said, "has become independent." They know that any real grievance in the village can now be remedied, and the Council serves as a vent-hole for complaints and suspicions that would otherwise have smouldered dangerously for years.

NEWICK (SUSSEX).

Population in 1891, 1,023. Area, 1,977 acres. Number of parochial electors, 200.
Rateable value, £4,199.

One grave defect of the Parish Council, as it is usually administered, is its failure to attract any public interest. It is not enough to put up a notice on the church door. It is better to do as the Parish Council of Orrell-with-Ford (Lancs., pop. 1,066) has done, viz., meet regularly every six weeks on fixed dates. The lack of public interest is partly due to the neglect of the Councils to let the parish know what they are doing. An admirable example to the contrary is seen at Newick (Sussex) where the Parish Council presents an annual report, which is printed in the local newspaper. As the report for 1899-1900 gives a vision of the work of an active Parish Council, it is here printed in full:

ALLOTMENTS.—The committee have now a prospect of securing land and having nearly completed their proposals the Council hope shortly to have before them a definite and complete scheme.

BOOKS OF REFERENCE.—Copies of further Acts of Parliament have been added.

BUILDING BYE-LAWS.—In view of the continued construction of insanitary dwellings in the parish, the Council have urged on the authorities the necessity of enacting building bye-laws for this district. The response has not been favorable, but looking at the importance of this question the Council will probably feel it their duty to press it further.

CHARITIES.—The Council having inquired as to the existence of any parochial charities, have received from the Commissioners an opinion that there are none, but further inquiries remain to be made.

DISTRICT ROADS.—The Council having persevered in their former course, find that there has been some improvement. They have also obtained from the highway engineers technical classes are brought together to discuss their common business, and the laborers have been taught to look the squire and the parson in the face, and to realize that the best men of their own class make as good and trustworthy councillors as landlords and farmers. "Everyone," it is now said, "has become independent." They know that any real grievance in the village can now be remedied, and the Council serves as a vent-hole for complaints and suspicions that would otherwise have smouldered dangerously for years.
authority an undertaking to repair the Rough, which has, however, not yet been acted on. The Council have resolved not to apply for powers over the district roads under section 15 Local Government Act, 1894, but that unless such roads are better managed in future to seek to obtain the transference of such management to the County Council under section 16 of the above Act, or otherwise.

EDUCATION.—Two classes for women and girls under the County Council have been carried out by Mrs. Gravely with satisfactory results. It remains to arrange technical or other classes for men and boys, and the organising secretary (Mr. Young) has consented to address a public meeting shortly to that end.

FINANCE.—Considerable progress has been made. All payments under the authority of the Council, whether of accounts or of extra remuneration to officials, have been systematically examined by the Finance Committee, who have also ascertained the causes of the rise in the poor rate in May, 1898. They have also established the right of ratepayers to examine the District Council minute book. The Drainage Committee have partly explained the heavy special drainage rate and will further report thereon.

FIRE BRIGADE.—An ineffectual communication was made to the Bonfire Boys' Society. It remains to decide whether to repeat that communication next year or what other attempt to make, if any. Inquiries should be made of those parishes who have already successfully completed their arrangements.

FOOTPATHS.—The committee have collected much information as to the history of the more important footpaths with a view to determining the liability for their repair. They are waiting legal advice as to preserving the testimony they have collected. Meanwhile no further expense has been incurred.

ISOLATION HOSPITAL.—The Council have supported an application to the authorities for an isolation hospital for the district, which is likely to be acted on.

PARISH DOCUMENTS.—The committee was re-appointed, but have been unable to proceed for want of the required directions from the County Council, whose attention will probably have to be recalled to the subject.

POSTAL FACILITIES.—The Council have secured from the General Post Office the promise of a new pillar-box at Cornwell's Bank for outgoing letters. An application for a despatch on Sundays of letters posted at the railway station was not granted.

REPRESENTATION ON DISTRICT COUNCIL AND BOARD OF GUARDIANS.—The memorial presented by the Council in 1898 has resulted, not in an increased representation for Newick, but in a proportionate increase in rural representation on the Board of Guardians at the expense of urban.

SEWAGE.—The committee appointed by the Council have devoted much attention to this subject, and have furnished the Council with considerable information. There has been some alteration in the methods of the Sanitary Authority in providing supervision and in cultivating the irrigation area. It remains to ascertain how far the present methods are adequate for the improvement of the drains or the relief of the ratepayers.

STEAM ENGINES ON HIGHWAYS.—The County Council have acted on the suggestion of the Parish Council for the publication of the conditions under which steam traffic on highways is permitted. The issue of the new regulations of the County Council is now awaited.

TRAIN SERVICE.—Among other railway business transacted the Council, having been informed by the Railway Company that the late train run the previous winter between Lewes and Newick had been worked at a loss, requested the company to extend the train to East Grinstead, a request in which they were supported by the Councils of East Grinstead, West Hoathly, Horsted Keynes and Denehill. The company, however, preferred to run the same train as before, but on Saturdays, an experiment which seems to have paid better. The Council also obtained through the Brighton United Football Club a reduction of fares in connection with the Saturday train. Further information is likely to be furnished by the company shortly.

VOLUNTEER EQUIPMENT FUND.—At the instance of the Lord Lieutenant the Parish Council undertook to support and collect for this fund, and have arranged for the sum of £14 9s. 6d. to be sent to the treasurer.

WATER SUPPLY.—The last-named consideration applies to the water supply, so far as it is connected with the Green.—East Sussex News, 13th April, 1900.
made up of farmers who often object to do anything, however useful it may be, that costs money. But Parish Councils have actually got many things put right by writing to the Rural District Council, and this should always be tried. Sometimes (as, for instance, getting compulsory power to hire or purchase land) the Parish Council has to go to the County Council, which is a long way off, and not very willing to listen to a small parish. The law ought to be changed.

But even under the present law there are ways and means by which a parish can get more power and freedom to manage its own affairs. Many parishes have done so in the following ways:

I.—The Parochial Committee.

The Parish Council may ask the Rural District Council to appoint a "Parochial Committee," and to make the Parish Council that committee, with perhaps the addition of the District Councillor for that district. Then the Parish Council (besides all its own powers) may exercise within its own parish nearly all the powers that the Rural District Council possesses, if they are delegated to the Parish Committee. The expenses for sewage and water supply will be kept separate, and will be charged on the parish in the Poor Rate, but for other matters they will be shared over the whole district, just as if there had been no Parochial Committee, unless the Local Government Board confers powers specially for one parish. Thus, the Croydon Rural District Council (Surrey) every year appoints Parochial Committees for five of its parishes, consisting in each case of the members of the Parish Council together with the Rural District Councillors elected by the parish. These Parochial Committees, meeting in the parishes themselves, practically carry on the government, giving their orders direct to the Rural District officials, and making formal reports to the Rural District Council which are usually confirmed. The Liskeard Rural District Council (Cornwall) has followed the same plan with regard to all the parishes within its district. Another example is seen in Derbyshire, where the Parish Council of Ockbrook (pop. 2,166) has got itself appointed the Parochial Committee for the parish. Some of the best-governed parishes in the Bromley Rural District (Kent) are managed by Parish Councils acting as Parochial Committees.

II.—The Urban District Council.

The Parish Council may apply to the County Council to have the parish declared an Urban District. The County Council will send one or two of its members to hold a public enquiry in the parish, and if it is clear that the bulk of the people wish it, and if the parish is not too small, the County Council will probably do what is desired. Then the parish elects an Urban District Council instead of a Parish Council, and gets quite free from any control by the Rural District Council. It can then build cottages, provide sewers and water supply, and manage the roads. It can go in for improving the parish in almost any way it chooses; but of course the parish will have to pay the cost in rates. An Urban District Council has practically the same powers as the Town Council of a small municipal borough. There are no Aldermen, and the chairman is not called a Mayor. But he is, during his year of office, a justice of the peace for the county; he can sit as a magistrate at Petty Sessions and attend the General Quarter Sessions. There are many of these so-called "Urban Districts" with fewer than 2,000 population, and quite rural in character. On the other hand there are a score or two of parishes with between 5,000 and 15,000 population, which are apparently still contented to be under Parish Councils, and thus subject to the Rural District Council. There are about 200 parishes having more than 2,000 inhabitants in the same case. Every parish with a population of 2,000 or upwards ought to apply to the County Council to be made into an "Urban District," and so get free from the control of the Rural District Council. During the last five years more than 100 parishes, some of them quite small, have thus obtained self-government.

CONCLUSION.

The lesson of all this is, that "where there's a will there's a way." If there is anything wrong in a parish, the Parish Council can do a great deal towards putting it right; if only the right men are chosen. If anyone wishes for further information on the subject, he should write to the Secretary of the Fabian Society, 3, Clement's Inn, Strand, London, W.C.
Edited by BERNARD SHAW. 1s. post free.

FABIAN ESSAYS IN SOCIALISM. (35th Thousand.)
Paper cover, 1½; plain cloth, 2½, post free from the Secretary.

FABIAN TRACTS and LEAFLETS.
Tracts, each 16 to 52 pp., price 1d., or 9d. per doz., unless otherwise stated.
Leaflets, 4 pp. each, price 1d. for six copies, 1½ per 100, or 8½ per 1000.
The Set of 81, post free 2½. Bound in Buckram, post free for 3½.
Boxes for set, 1½, post free 1½. 3d.

I.—On General Socialism in its various aspects.

II.—On Application of Socialism to Particular Problems.


IV.—On Books.
29. What to Read. A List of Books for Social Reformers. 6d. each.

V.—On Fabian Policy.
70. Report on Fabian Policy. 41. The Fabian Society: its Early History. By BERNARD SHAW.


Printed by G. Standring, 9 Finsbury Street, E.C., and Published by the Fabian Society, 3 Clement's Inn, Strand, London, W.C.